

Technology, Media & Telecommunications

## Media Predictions TMT Trends 2008



Audit.Tax.Consulting.Financial Advisory.

## About TMT

The Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (DTT) Technology, Media & Telecommunications (TMT) Industry Group consists of the TMT practices organized in the various member firms of DTT and includes more than 6,000 member firm partners, directors and senior managers supported by thousands of other professionals dedicated to helping their clients evaluate complex issues, develop fresh approaches to problems and implement practical solutions. There are dedicated TMT member firm practices in 45 countries and centers of excellence in the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific. DTT's member firms serve nearly 90 percent of the TMT companies in the Fortune Global 500. Clients of Deloitte's member firms' TMT practices include some of the world's top software companies, computer manufacturers, wireless operators, satellite broadcasters, advertising agencies and semiconductor foundries – as well as leaders in publishing, telecommunications and peripheral equipment manufacturing.

### Contents

	Page
Foreword	3
Executive summary	4
Obstacles ahead for the online advertisement	6
Forget the e-Book. Bring on e-Reference!	8
The living room moves closer to being Public Enemy Number One	9
Long live traditional television, thanks to Internet television	10
Overcoming online piracy may not mean the end of counterfeit content	11
The movie theater becomes about more than just the movies	12
Time for music to get tangible again	13
Stop the presses! Online is moving (slowly) to the front page	15
Offshoring gets bigger and more creative in the media sector	16
Converging technology and media: don't forget the business plan!	17
Notes	18
Glossary of technical terms	20
Recent thought leadership	20
Contacts at DTT and its member firms	21

### Foreword

Welcome to the 2008 edition of the DTT Global TMT Industry Group's **Media Predictions**.

As predicted in last year's Media report, social networking has continued to gain in popularity, and our suggestion that concerns about privacy and user safety would grow proved correct. New media, too, have enjoyed a positive year, although their power relative to traditional media has been more openly debated, and the continued dominance of television, radio and print more widely acknowledged. Also, as suggested last year, the success of virtual worlds was put in perspective during 2007, as accurate usage data became available.

The so-called long tail remained tightly curled, with most consumers defaulting to populist content, rather than spending time seeking niche content. VoD grew, as expected, but from a low base and at a much slower pace than others suggested, largely because of limited available bandwidth, and its knock-on effect on quality. However, on the Internet, user-generated content continued to reign supreme, with the volume of uploads and downloads continuing to surprise, though not as much as the prices paid for companies in the sector. And as suggested, mainstream media companies started to use social networking sites as a means of promoting their content and schedules.

The use of one form of participation in television – competition television – has been affected by a number of inquiries into authenticity. The print media began to make more symbiotic use of the Internet, and record revenues were posted for online activities. And China, as predicted, remained a hard nut to crack.

The outlook for the media sector in 2008 is similarly varied. This year's Predictions cover potential obstacles ahead for online advertisement; a novel reinvention of the e-Book; the growing carbon footprint of the living room; the increasingly complementary relationship between Internet TV and its broadcast cousin; the decline of online piracy and the growth in counterfeiting; the diversification of movie theaters; the possible reinstatement of music as a tangible, as opposed to virtual, product; the legitimization of the Internet's newsmakers; the growth in offshoring in the media sector, and the continued travails of convergence between media and technology.

I am often asked how the DTT TMT Global Industry Group's Predictions differ from the many similarly titled reports produced by other organizations. I believe Predictions has a unique combination of objectives and methodology. The Predictions series provides a diverse selection of views and thoughts that challenge, inform and engage industry leaders and executives. It neither aims, nor claims to be a comprehensive forecast of every anticipated event. Its aim is to provide a point of view, but by the very nature of predictions, the outcome may differ from original expectations.

The inherent unpredictability of the global media sector can be mitigated by having a robust methodology that synthesizes multiple sources of information and a wide body of opinions that require thorough peer reviews. The 2008 series of Predictions has drawn on internal and external inputs from conversations with member firm clients, contributions from DTT member firms' 6,000 partners and managers specializing in TMT, and discussions with industry analysts. As last year, Predictions for the media sector has been able to draw upon the insight gleaned from a series of 20 interviews with leading executives from around the world on the key industry theme of digitization. These interviews have been published in a book, **Digital Dilemmas**, available online (www.deloitte.com/tmt).

I hope the result of our endeavors provides you with plenty of food for thought for the year ahead. On behalf of DTT's Global TMT Industry Group, may I take this opportunity to wish you all the best for an enjoyable 2008.

Igal Brightman.

Igal Brightman Global Managing Partner Technology, Media & Telecommunications

### Executive summary

Online advertising is 15 years old in 2008. Since the first banner advertisement was sold, online advertising has grown into a \$42 billion industry. However, 2008 could see online advertising face a barrage of obstacles. One barrier may be growing antipathy to the online advertisement itself; another could be growing opposition to the tracking of online behaviour. And to cap it all, growth in broadband connections may slow in a number of key markets. The advertising sector should make its case in 2008. It should communicate the guid pro guo of Internet advertisements for endusers, for example in the form of free content. The industry should position online advertising as an element of the media mix within a campaign, not as a solitary platform with a mission to take on traditional media. The sector should monitor regulation carefully. The more successful online advertising gets, the more subject to regulatory scrutiny it may become. And the sector should be prepared in 2008 for rising competition from traditional media formats.

While the e-Book may fail to thrive in 2008, e-Reference may gain traction. One of the biggest obstacles to the mass adoption of the e-Book in 2008 and beyond may be the profound affection for the traditional, paper-based book. There is however proven value in digitizing the word. Many business and academic texts spanning a wide range of disciplines, sectors and subjects are already available, and most typically consumed, in digital format. Reference texts may therefore be best suited for digitization. The e-Book sector should consider which texts could become more valuable as a result of their conversion into electronic format. Suppliers should also consider all the ways in which digitization could add value, and hence further distinguish it from the traditional form of the book. Functionality such as connectivity, search or handwriting recognition would all serve this end.

Environmental concerns are likely to affect the media sector in 2008. The proliferation of technology in the living room is creating its own distinctive carbon footprint, and this is expected to grow in 2008 and beyond. One organization forecast that the total power consumption for all information, communication and entertainment devices could reach as much as 50 percent of a household in Northern Ireland's power consumption by 2020. The media and consumer electronics industries should consider how the carbon footprint of the living room could be reduced without the need to revert to antiquated technology. One approach would be to reduce unnecessary power consumption, for example by forcing devices into standby when not in use. Some manufacturers have brought out more efficient devices, but these greener products come with a higher price tag.

The imminent demise of television will be forecast in 2008. But the sector should remain in overall good health throughout the year. There is also a good chance that Internet television will have contributed to the fortunes of traditional television. This outcome may appear perverse, particularly when Internet television has been regarded by some influential commentators as a direct competitor to traditional television. But it appears that Internet television is another medium whose quality, content formats and audience differ

largely from traditional television audiences. Traditional broadcasters should work out how online channels can complement or supplement broadcast content, rather than cannibalize it. Internet television may find it more profitable to serve as an additional route to market for traditional television than to try and rout the incumbents.

Steady growth in the number of broadband connections around the world has enabled online piracy to grow. The increasing speed of broadband connections has made movie, television and software piracy feasible. But during 2008, persuasion may start to win the battle against digital piracy. A two-pronged attack via education and punishment - in the form of denial of broadband access and fines may start to take effect. However, even if digital piracy were to be completely defeated in some markets, the bigger battle against piracy - the sale of counterfeit media - would still not be won. Supply and demand for piracy should be managed on a coordinated basis. Controlling supply should involve a joint approach from the media industry, governments, professional bodies, ISPs and any major sources of bandwidth, from universities to enterprises. The media industry should also identify any sources of internal leakage of content. The threat of fines may dissuade casual pirates, but a more effective approach could be education. The evidence so far is that the battle to win over hearts and minds can be successful.

In recent years, the movie theater has enjoyed strong growth. Its robust state may make it the perfect time to consider how to re-invent a format which has seen relatively little innovation in the past 10 years. There are a number of growing threats on the horizon, including the potential for economic downturn and the growth of alternative sources of entertainment. In 2008, PC ownership, broadband connectivity and game console penetration are all expected to grow. The movie theater also faces competition from other entertainment venues, from sports stadiums to concert halls. Technological advance is another catalyst for the reinvention of the movie theater in 2008, with a key change being the growth in digital movie theaters. One of the major benefits of digital movie theaters is flexibility. It enables theaters to become local rather than homogenous, perhaps attracting a larger, more varied, more loyal audience as a result. But the biggest change the transition to digital could make for theaters may be the need for suitable equipment to enable the screening of events, ranging from sports fixtures to concerts. While planning for digital transition, theater owners should also consider the need for new skills. Digital movie theaters are more IT-centered than analog.

While music fans are happy to pay several hundred dollars for an MP3 player and a similar amount to see live music, the same fans spend an average of only around \$20 on purchasing digital downloads for their MP3 players. The reluctance to spend money on digital downloads may be because it is hard for consumers to value intangible products. Customers may be happier to pay, and to pay more, for music if it came in a 'physical' package. Therefore, 2008 could be the year in which music becomes tangible again. The industry could evolve from offering digital downloads for

transfer to a device, to selling pre-recorded MP3 players, containing a single album or even an artist's entire back catalog. The industry should look at various ways of making music tangible, while still providing the flexibility of digital downloads. One solution would be to bundle a physical copy, or even an accompanying book or T-shirt, with the digital download.

Historically traditional media outlets have been loath to admit that they have based news stories on material that originated online. Blogs (written by authentic amateurs, not renamed columnists), podcasts, and wikis have simply not been considered legitimate, credible sources of information. But during 2008, it may become increasingly commonplace for traditional media not only to acknowledge the existence of the online world, but also to concede, albeit only occasionally, those stories have been 'broken' by citizen journalists. During 2008, traditional media are likely to move towards a more active and dynamic online presence, as they begin to phase out the historical, now seemingly arbitrary barriers between analog and digital versions. As existing media companies lose their disdain for and fear of the online world, they are likely to start to see the appeal of using the Web as a 'farm team' of up and coming talent. By looking at the online world as a source of content and talent, traditional media companies may be able to increase their relevance, especially for younger consumers and readers. Media companies should be flexible; they may have to raise their pay scales significantly to attract the right kind of talent. There may be legal challenges to permitting user interaction, editing or even comment on published news. In addition, unedited content may result in lawsuits for libel.

The media industry appears to have only dabbled with offshoring. However, 2008 may see further significant offshoring deals, following the agreement last year of a wide-ranging offshoring contract worth in excess of \$1 billion. Growing faith in offshoring reflects both consistent quality of supply as well as an increasing ability for western companies and offshored teams to work together. While cost, particularly given the economic outlook, may remain the key motivation for offshoring in 2008, the year may also witness the start of a fundamental change in how offshoring is perceived by media companies. It may increasingly be seen as a means of adding value, not just cutting cost. The movie industry may increasingly look abroad for the creation as well as the production of films. The use of offshored teams to undertake more creative tasks may be encouraged by offshoring specialists setting up marketing and production locations onshore. The media sector should regard offshoring as a strategic imperative, best evaluated proactively. Offshoring has the potential to offer many benefits, but these can only be realized with good execution.

Companies need to consider how management may become more complex, how processes may need to be redesigned and which onshore staff would need to be retrained to be able to make full use of the advantages of offshoring. In 2008 many media companies may rush into offshoring as a means of cutting costs. The more forward-thinking media companies should already have identified which processes to offshore, which suppliers to use and where to base themselves, by the time the crowds arrive.

The media sector has particularly benefited from the transformational potential of technology in recent years. In 2008 the convergence of media and technology is highly likely to spawn a wide range of new products, services and even companies. Many of these initiatives should in time prove to be commercially successful, but some might fail for avoidable reasons. One common cause of failure may be because companies might focus overly on reaching the limits of what is technologically possible, as opposed to evaluating commercial realities. A further challenge could be legal. A company may develop a brand new service only to discover that it could face legal challenges in accessing its target audience. The convergence of technology and media could cause some products and services to fall in value. Some companies, while enjoying great success in building a user base, may find it far harder to monetize this base retrospectively. A number of factors have to be aligned for the combination of media and technology to be worth more than the sum of its parts. First, the technology needs to be robust, familiar and easy to use. In addition, the service has to comply with laws and regulations in every market where it is offered. Where digitization of analog content has occurred, the content should be more valuable as a result, and there also needs to be a realistic plan for generating revenues from end-users.



### Obstacles ahead for the online advertisement

The first banner advertisement is claimed to have been sold to a legal firm – in  $1993^{1}$ .

In the 15 years since, online advertising has enjoyed massive growth. In 2008, it is expected to generate \$41.6 billion in revenue, a 23 percent increase on 2007 and more than the commercial radio sector<sup>2</sup>.

Online advertising's largest single company, Google, was, at the end of 2007, one of the United States's five most valuable companies<sup>3</sup>. And Web advertising has also been a growth story for traditional media companies, even if online's growth has not always made up for declines in core product revenues. US newspaper groups generated \$750 million from online revenues in the first quarter of 2007, a 22 percent increase on the same period in 2006<sup>4</sup>.

In 2008, following a year in which over \$10 billion was spent on acquiring specialist online advertising companies<sup>5</sup>, both new and traditional media companies are hoping to increase earnings from Web advertising. The rate of growth in online advertising is projected to grow six times faster than traditional media through 2009<sup>6</sup>. By 2010, online is forecast to represent one-tenth of all advertising spending<sup>7</sup>.

Two of the largest social networking sites, whose implied valuation could be upwards of \$10 billion, are expected to generate the majority of their revenues from advertising<sup>8</sup>. One ISP plans to generate all its future revenues from advertising<sup>9</sup>. Online television services, such as Joost and Babelgum, aim to be solely advertising funded. The video games sector is looking to add to product sales and subscriptions through in-game advertising, which one analyst has forecast as being a \$700 million market by 2010<sup>10</sup>.

However, 2008 could see online advertising face a barrage of obstacles.

One barrier may be growing antipathy to the online advertisement itself. One 2007 survey of US consumers found that over threequarters of respondents considered Internet advertisements more intrusive than those in print. Nearly two-thirds claimed that they paid more attention to print advertising than to that on the Web. Over a quarter stated that they would pay for advertisement-free online content<sup>11</sup>.

The coming year may also see growing opposition to a key feature of online advertising: the tracking of online behaviour, whose main purpose is to enable the delivery of targeted advertising. In 2007, resistance was already being manifested in the form of organized lobbies and a 'do not track' campaign. Some websites decided to differentiate on the basis of privacy, with one search engine offering a non-tracking version<sup>12</sup>; another started offering consumers the option of blocking advertisements<sup>13</sup>. All such initiatives could dampen the efficacy of online advertising, a key advantage of which is superior metrics on consumer behaviour.

Confidence in online advertising could be further undermined if high profile industry figures continue to question publicly online advertising's revenues and valuations<sup>14</sup>.

And to cap it all, a key underlying driver for the growth in online advertising, broadband connections, may slow in a number of key markets. Two of the largest markets for online advertisement, the United States and the United Kingdom, are expected to experience slowing growth in net broadband subscriber additions.



#### **Bottom line**

A key mission for the advertising sector in 2008 should be to fight back against its critics by demonstrating – without rhetoric – its capabilities.

This is likely to require testing various types of online advertisement with consumers. Copying and pasting existing advertising formats that have worked in other media, such as the equivalent of the 30-second spot from television, or the full-page color spread from magazines, is unlikely to work.

An Internet user, whether attending to email or interacting with a social network, is active and engaged, and may therefore find advertising intrusive. Online agencies and their clients should be prepared to experiment with radically new forms and formats, and should also be prepared to learn from inevitable failures. The advertising sector may also want to explain to end-users the quid pro quo of Internet advertisements, for example in the form of free content.

The advertising industry as a whole should increasingly consider online advertising not as a solitary platform with a mission to compete with traditional media, but rather as an element of the media mix within a campaign. For campaigns to be successful, media buyers need to have a comprehensive understanding of all media, and the strengths and weaknesses of each. The advertising industry should also ensure that advertisers, their customers and end-consumers become aware of the different formats of online advertising, from banners to viral advertisements. Media buyers in particular need to know which form of online advertisements to use, at what time and with which combination of traditional advertising media.

Online may never displace radio, print or television – it is more likely to complement and support. Recognizing that, and starting the process of understanding how online advertising adds value, would likely take the industry a substantial step forward.

The sector should also monitor regulation carefully. Much of the focus on controlling advertisements so far has been on traditional sectors. But the more successful online advertising gets the more subject to regulatory scrutiny it may become. While a watershed, a time before which certain content cannot be shown, exists for television and radio, this typically does not apply for the Internet. The online advertising industry should self-regulate and implement technology that would enable watersheds and restrict certain types of advertising, such as for alcoholic drinks.

Traditional media formats may be able to fight back in 2008. The television sector, which for many years has suffered falling revenues in industrialized countries, could be resurgent. One catalyst for this may be relaxation of regulations. For example, product placement is expected to become legal throughout the European Union's television sector. Product placement, worth \$1.5 billion in the United States in 2006, generated only \$31 million in Europe in the same period<sup>15</sup>. Additionally, as the process of digitization takes hold in the developed world, both radio and television could proliferate as never before. With more choice and generally better quality (of video and audio), advertisers may find that the sheer scale of traditional media is hard to beat.

Even if the growth of online advertising does slow in 2008, slower growth should be put in perspective. Online advertising is expected to generate tens of billions of dollars-worth of revenues in 2008 from a relatively small addressable market. At the start of 2008, less than 20 percent of the world's population was expected to be online<sup>16</sup> and there were only 330 million broadband enabled households<sup>17</sup>. This compares to an audience of 2.2 billion for radio,<sup>18</sup> an installed based of 1.4 billion television sets<sup>19</sup> and a global daily paid-for newspaper circulation of 515 million<sup>20</sup>.

## Forget the e-Book. Bring on e-Reference!

While the e-Book may fail to thrive in 2008, e-Reference may gain traction.

At the beginning of 2008 there were few media formats left to digitize. Digital versions of television, newspapers, radio and classified advertising were all being consumed by millions of people around the world.

One of the last untouched formats was the book. By the end of 2008, the book is likely to remain predominantly paper-based. This will particularly be the case for books read for leisure, rather than for study or for work. It is also unlikely that the e-Book – a device designed to hold and display the contents of tens of thousands of books – will have attained anything like mass market status by year-end.

There are many and varied obstacles to making the e-Book commercially viable. Price is a major challenge<sup>21</sup>. A standard paperback book can cost just a few dollars. e-Books that have been launched in the last couple of years were priced at a few hundred dollars. Then there is the cost of the content or a subscription on top of that<sup>22</sup>.

Technology is another issue. The technology going into e-Books is improving fast. The latest e-Books feature high-resolution screens that deliver a clarity almost emulating that of ink<sup>23</sup>. Digital memory has advanced so much that an e-Book can carry an entire library, or even several entire libraries<sup>24</sup>, much in the same way that MP3 players allow entire music collections to be taken anywhere. Devices can be made shock resistant, even impermeable.

But competing against paper is hard and competing against paper in a book format is even more difficult. Paper is particularly fit for a book's purpose. It enables the book, particularly the paperback, to be more portable, compact, durable and disposable than any electronic equivalent so far<sup>25</sup>.

But one of the biggest obstacles to the mass adoption of the e-Book in 2008 and for some years to come may be the profound affection for the conventional, paper-based book, which is deeply embedded in our culture.

Technology, no matter how good or how cheap, may never be able to compete with our sentimental attachment to books. After all, people read them from an early age. Books, unlike television and newspapers, are rarely bypassed by younger generations. Most people may prefer to display their libraries rather than confine them in 'digital dungeons'. While a shuffle function makes sense for a music collection, it would be absurd for books. Digital functionality such as search may be little used.

Indeed, it would seem that some media are going to stay paperbased for some time, and the book, the consumer magazine and the commuter newspaper are examples of media that should endure in their existing formats. While it simply may not be worth it for digital technologies to compete with the book, there is undoubted, proven value in digitizing the word. After all, at the start of 2008, many business and academic texts spanning a wide range of disciplines, sectors and subjects were available, and most typically consumed, in digital format. But there is a critical difference between business or academic texts, and what someone would typically think of as a book. Mention the latter and most people would think of the likes of novels, biographies and anthologies, most typically read from cover to cover. The former are functional, often references, rarely consumed in a linear fashion. Rather they are consulted when specific information is required<sup>26</sup>.

Reference texts may therefore be best suited for digitization. Providing a doctor on call with the ability to search through tens of thousands of medical records<sup>27</sup>; a lawyer in court with the facility to reference several years of cases, or a scientist in a laboratory with access to all relevant research could all deliver value. Enabling a room full of text to become more valuable through making it portable and searchable could deliver considerable value.

#### **Bottom line**

While there is significant benefit from digitizing the word, not all texts become more useful or more valuable when digitized. Companies in, or thinking about entering, the e-Book market should firstly consider which texts could become more valuable, rather than having to be sold for less, as a result of being digitized.

The name of an electronic text-displaying device is also important. The depth of emotional attachment to the book in paper format may make it better to think of another name to describe its electronic equivalent. Since the texts that would most benefit from digitization would be reference works, e-Reference may be a more apt name.

Suppliers should also consider all the ways in which digitization could add value, and hence further distinguish it from traditional book form. Functionality such as connectivity, search or handwriting recognition would all serve this end. But these should only be implemented if they are likely to be used, for example if a WiFi connection is required to keep an e-Reference containing medical cases or legal precedents up-to-date. Adding functionality, from Web browsers to email, just because it is available runs the risk of creating a product indistinguishable in form, price or reliability, from a notebook computer.

Focusing on vertical markets may require sector-specific device customization. Medical professionals might need a sealed and wipe-clean device. Engineers and architects may prefer a toughened and damage-proof version.

The e-Reference sector should also pay particular attention to the issue of piracy. For many decades, books have attracted scant interest from counterfeiters because of the high cost of printing and the low margins available even in the legitimate book market. But digital books may represent an altogether easier target, particularly for high-value content.

## The living room moves closer to being Public Enemy Number One

These days, it's hard not to feel guilty about our impact on the environment.

Travel appears to be a particularly gluttonous hazard – in almost any form. An analysis published in 2007 showed that walking to the mall creates four times more greenhouse gas than driving there<sup>28</sup>. At least this is the case for carnivores who eat intensively farmed, greenhouse-gas-producing cows. Going organic is even worse; cattle reared to organic standards emit even more methane<sup>29</sup>.

So in 2008 it may feel more responsible to stay at home and indulge in the innocent pleasure of watching television, listening to music, or perhaps even playing a video game, albeit one not requiring too much physical movement.

But the proliferation of technology in the living room is creating its own distinctive carbon footprint, and this is expected to grow in 2008 and beyond. The Energy Saving Trust has predicted that total power consumption for all information, communication and entertainment devices could reach as much as 50 percent of a household's total power consumption by 2020<sup>30</sup>. In the United States, consumer electronics' share of household electricity usage tripled from 5 percent in 1980 to 15 percent in 2005<sup>31</sup>.

It would appear that device proliferation has been a key outcome of the convergence of technology, media and telecommunications in the living room. And with it, power consumption has leapt.

How has this happened? Let's take a look at the television.

A television was once a simple, solitary device, combining a receiver, a convex screen and a meager speaker. Today the domestic television's set-up can include multiple, individually powered speakers, video and sound processors, twin receivers, a DVD player, a hard-disk recorder, a satellite set-top box, a digital terrestrial set-top box, at least one games console, and a collection of remote controls. Three years ago, televisions already accounted for 4 percent of residential power consumption in the United States, equivalent to the total amount of energy used in every household in the state of New York<sup>32</sup>.

Televisions are getting bigger and more power-hungry. And, based on the flat-panel factories being built now, they are going to get more so<sup>33</sup>. Keeping up with your peers may soon require a much larger room in which to mount your 100-inch screen.

A typical plasma screen generates about 400 kilograms of carbon dioxide per year<sup>34</sup>. On average, plasma screens consume more power than CRT screens – 9.4 watts per square inch versus 3.4 watts per square inch respectively. The larger the screen, the greater the power consumption and the greater the heat generated. Above a certain size, cooling may be required to prevent the entire room becoming too warm.

Peripherals are also power hungry. A DVD recorder with a hard drive consumes up to 60 watts when in use and five watts when on standby. In other words, over a day it consumes more power while not in use<sup>35</sup>. A high-end PC, optimized for video games, may

incorporate as many as four processors. Upgrading to a third generation games console may also mean increasing power demand to as much as 200 watts. Second generation consoles consume as little as 50 watts<sup>36</sup>.

Digital switchover, underway in many countries around the world, implies increased power consumption. Additional peak power consumption in the United Kingdom, a country with 61 million people, is estimated to be about 31 million watt hours per day. In terms of cost, upgrading to a digital terrestrial receiver can add up to 3 percent of the energy consumption of a typical home<sup>37</sup>.

As a result, going to the living room to relax and switch off may take on an entirely new connotation.

#### **Bottom line**

The media and consumer electronics industries should consider how the carbon footprint of the living room could be reduced without the need to revert to antiquated technology, such as CRT tubes and analog transmission.

One approach would be to reduce unnecessary power consumption, for example by forcing devices into standby when not in use<sup>38</sup>. The United Kingdom's leading satellite provider, BSkyB, is rolling out this facility to all its customers' set-top boxes over 2007 and 2008<sup>39</sup>. BSkyB has estimated that the saving from this type of power management of its customers with HD and Sky+ boxes would reduce the United Kingdom's carbon dioxide emissions by 32,000 tonnes a year: roughly equivalent to the power required to operate all the washing machines in the city of Liverpool for a year.

Some television manufacturers have brought out more efficient sets. Sanyo has announced plans to sell greener televisions, offering 20 percent lower power consumption – albeit at a 25 percent price premium<sup>40</sup>. Philips is currently holder of the European Green Television of the Year award, with its prizewinning model rated at 210 watts for a 42-inch screen<sup>41</sup>. However a typical 28-inch CRT television consumed just 87 watts.

One promising approach is to make wider use of a technology called OEL, currently employed in small screens such as those in music players and mobile phones. The benefit of OEL is that no backlight is required; the self-luminescent properties of the organic materials used in the screen mean that it emits light even when no power is supplied. Power is required only to change the image<sup>42</sup>. This technology could reduce television power consumption considerably<sup>43</sup>.

If all else fails, there is one argument that couch potatoes could use to demonstrate their green credentials. Watching television or playing video games means staying in – and thus not inflicting the car on the environment. And of course, the bigger the car in the driveway, the more virtuous the viewing may be.

### Long live traditional television, thanks to Internet television

The imminent demise of television is forecast perennially and it is highly likely that this call will again be made in 2008. The global traditional television sector, despite the occasional shock, should remain in good health throughout the year<sup>44</sup>. There is also a good chance that Internet television will have contributed to traditional television's fortunes.

This outcome may appear perverse, particularly when Internet television – the delivery of television to computers over the Internet – has been regarded by some influential commentators as more of a dark knight than a fairy godmother<sup>45</sup>.

But Internet television is unlikely to kill off traditional television in 2008 largely because Internet television, certainly in its current manifestation, is not traditional television. It is another medium whose quality, content formats and audience differs largely from traditional television audiences.

At the start of 2008, Internet television was characterized by streamed shorter clips rather than downloaded feature films<sup>46</sup>. The preference for shorter clips may be due to the typical quality of Internet television. Streamed television content is often displayed as half screen because many broadband households do not enjoy the consistent connection of 2 Mbit/s that would make full screen worthwhile<sup>47</sup>. Downloading a program can take longer than watching it<sup>48</sup>.

For the majority of broadband households not blessed with fiber or very fast broadband connections in 2008, there is still likely to be a marked difference between watching television on a computer and watching the same content on a television. While the average size of monitor supplied with a computer appears to be growing, the average size of the television purchased for the living room has grown faster still, as has its sonic boom.

In 2008, the quality and volume of content available via Internet television should improve. The number of traditional television companies that are expected to make content they have created or licensed available to an Internet audience is growing. Independent production companies may also use the Internet to reach a wider audience without having to negotiate with broadcasters in each country they want to reach.

Viewers may take advantage of the growth of quality content over the Internet to see programs they have missed. People could use it to keep up with a series, or to follow sports, when they are away from home and do not have access to a television. However, in 2008 it is unlikely that consumers of mainstream television content would regard the arrival of their favorite programs on the Internet from a legitimate source as cause for discarding their televisions. The quantity of Internet television consumed in 2008 may appear impressive<sup>49</sup>. At the start of 2008, a single video clip was already able to attract 10 million views within roughly two weeks, equivalent to the audience of a prime-time show in the United States<sup>50</sup>. In a single month in 2007, US consumers viewed more than nine billion videos<sup>51</sup>. But this seemingly vast volume equates to just three hours per viewer, per month. By contrast, Americans dedicate on average 4.5 hours each day to television<sup>52</sup>. Worldwide, despite a steady growth in entertainment choices, including Internet television, the incumbent, sedentary traditional form of television is likely to remain as popular as ever in 2008<sup>53</sup>.

#### **Bottom line**

Working out where Internet television fits in consumers' growing range of entertainment options should be a key objective for both traditional and Internet television companies during 2008.

This is particularly important for traditional broadcasters, who should work out how online channels can complement or supplement broadcast content, rather than cannibalize it.

Internet television pure-plays should do the same. They may find it more profitable to serve as an additional route to market for traditional television, than to try and rout the incumbent providers. Pure-plays could be a vehicle to try out and trail content, with the ultimate aim of dragging people back to the television set. The pure-plays, many of which are global, could even use television broadcasters as agents for selling localized advertising.

By serving as a platform for inexpensive, possibly advertisingfunded television, Internet television could even help to suppress copyright theft. One possibility for Internet television could be low-cost, legitimate programming on demand. For example, the ability to watch a lower quality download, for a small fee, might appeal to people who are either unwilling or unable to purchase a DVD box set of a television series or a premium television subscription.

Expatriates and frequent travelers may value the ability to tune in to their home country's television stations from wherever they are. Such customers could represent an attractive market for advertisers.

Overall, traditional and Internet television would appear to have more to gain from helping rather than hindering each other.

...Internet television is unlikely to kill off traditional television in 2008 largely because Internet television, certainly in its current manifestation, is not traditional television.

## Overcoming online piracy may not mean the end of counterfeit content

The advent of widespread consumer broadband at the end of the 20th Century was like the advent of transoceanic commerce in the 16th Century – they both changed the nature of piracy. While individuals have for many years recorded copies of music to give away to friends, broadband has enabled music and video sharing with a much broader group of people.

Steady growth in the number of broadband connections around the world has allowed online piracy to spread<sup>54</sup> and the increasing speed of broadband connections has made movie, television and software piracy feasible. Online copyright theft, therefore, is no longer confined to the music industry. And digital piracy has remained rife in spite of thousands of individuals around the world being prosecuted for personal piracy.

But during 2008, the battle against digital piracy may start favoring the industry, as a two-pronged attack of persuasion, through education, and punishment, in the form of denial of broadband access as well as fines, starts to bite. The number of casual pirates, many of whom were not entirely sure that their actions were illegal, could decline<sup>55</sup>.

Regulators, industry bodies and ISPs are increasingly expected to work closer together to identify users whose traffic patterns suggest they are downloading content that infringes copyright. At the end of 2007, the French Government announced proposals aimed at dissuading casual piracy by confiscating persistent offenders' broadband connections<sup>56</sup>. The UK Government has signaled that it may introduce new laws that would involve ISPs in identifying illegal downloading of content <sup>57</sup>. In the United States, a judge ordered one website that had been accused of enabling copyright infringement to begin logging user activity and to pass this data on to the plaintiff<sup>58</sup>.

Whereas some ISPs were accused of turning a blind eye to piracy in the early days of broadband<sup>59</sup>, the highly competitive nature of the sector in 2008 may cause some ISPs to identify and remove consumer pirates. Illegal file-sharers typically consume a huge amount of bandwidth, which can dampen network performance and reduce overall profitability. ISPs typically charge a fixed retail rate to customers, but their costs are variable. So a customer downloading a movie from the United States to the United Kingdom may incur significant marginal costs for the ISP.

Technology, such as deep packet inspection, which enables ISPs to monitor what content is being downloaded, is likely to become more effective and more frequently used. This is also likely to help accelerate the process of identifying pirates, and may lead to swifter disconnection, or prosecution.

However, even if digital piracy were to be completely defeated in some markets, the industry must be clear in its message that a key battle against piracy would still not be won. Physical piracy – where consumers purchase physical copies of DVDs and, to a lesser extent CDs - is likely to remain significant in 2008. In 2008, the vast majority of pirate DVDs in some key markets are still likely to be based on copies made by individuals using a camcorder in a movie theater<sup>50</sup>.

The cost of entry to carry out online piracy – a broadband connection and a PC – has fallen steadily over the years. The industry should bear in mind that the cost of making illegal DVD and CD copies has fallen too. At the beginning of 2008, the retail price of an 18x speed DVD burner was less than £20 (\$41<sup>1</sup>). A high definition camcorder could be obtained for well under \$1,000<sup>61</sup>.

In 2008, while one battle against piracy may start going the industry's way, the overall war on piracy is most likely to continue to rage.

#### **Bottom line**

While 2008 may be the year in which the media industry manages to start to control one form of piracy – the overall campaign against piracy needs to be sustained. If digital piracy does start to be controlled in some markets, the industry should ensure that complacency does not follow.

Supply and demand for piracy need to be managed on a coordinated basis. Controlling supply should involve a joint approach from the media industry, governments, professional bodies, ISPs and any major sources of bandwidth, from universities to enterprises. The media industry should also identify any sources of internal content leakage because much of the material available on file sharing sites is pre-release content stolen by employees of media companies themselves<sup>62</sup>.

The threat of fines may cause many casual pirates to think twice about whether downloading illegal content justifies the risk of a criminal record. But a more effective approach could be education. The media industry should provide unambiguous guidance on what constitutes piracy<sup>63</sup>. A second message is to tell consumers and casual pirates what organized piracy may be funding. Some consumers may consider professional media pirates as lovable rogues. The realization that media piracy may be funding the drugs trade or even terrorism may shock some casual pirates sufficiently to change their behaviour<sup>64</sup>.

The evidence so far is that winning over hearts and minds can be successful. Two US industry groups have found that piracy is less common on university campuses that have educated students on network use and enforcement polices<sup>65</sup>. Another scheme in the United States provides education on copyright to five-year-olds<sup>66</sup>.

Demand could also be addressed by providing legal alternatives, from cheaper, basic versions of physical content to online media stores. The latter may involve creating everything from lowerquality streams through to online rental models.

Finally, the media industry could look at ways to make the alternatives to the pirated version far more competitive. For example, making the movie-going experience, which cannot easily be pirated, far more compelling may encourage people to go to a movie theater, rather than watch a pirated DVD in their living room.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Currency conversion correct on 10 December 2007 at: www.xe.com

## The movie theater becomes about more than just the movies

The movie theater – also known as the cinema in some countries – has enjoyed strong growth in recent years. Revenues, measured by box office sales, grew year-on-year from the mid-1990s to 2006, a year in which sales totaled \$25 billion<sup>67</sup>. The outlook looks bright, with double-digit growth forecast<sup>68</sup>.

The robust state of the movie theater may make it the perfect time to consider how to re-invent a format which has seen relatively little innovation in the past 10 years.

There are a number of growing threats on the horizon. One is the potential for economic downturn. While in the last recession US movie theaters actually experienced growing sales<sup>69</sup>, the sector may not be able to bank on a repeat performance.

Another, arguably more ominous threat, is the growth of alternative sources of entertainment. In 2008, levels of PC ownership, broadband connectivity and game console penetration are all expected to increase. Additionally, large format, flat-panel television ownership is also likely to grow rapidly, as is the popularity of home-cinema surround sound. And the price of DVDs may well continue its steady decline. Even by the end of 2007, for the price of two movie tickets, a film buff could buy two movies on DVD – or the DVD player to play them on<sup>70</sup>.

The movie theater also faces competition from other entertainment venues, from sports stadiums to concert halls, all of which have received significant investment, and to some extent rising revenues, in recent years<sup>71</sup>. In the 2005 to 2006 season, soccer clubs in England alone invested £233 million (\$476.5 million<sup>11</sup>) in their stadiums<sup>72</sup>.

Technological advance is another catalyst for the reinvention of the movie theater in 2008, with the biggest change being the advent of digital film. This confers several advantages. Lower cost is one. Digital prints, stored on encrypted hard drives are cheaper to produce than the traditional film reel, which can cost up to £1,500<sup>73</sup> (\$3068<sup>iii</sup>), and don't need to be returned. Currently movie studios spend over \$800 million a year in printing and distributing film reels to movie theaters<sup>74</sup>.

A more significant benefit of the digital movie theater may be in terms of flexibility. It may enable movie theaters to lose some of their homogeneity, attracting a larger and more varied, more loyal audience as a result. A single digital copy could contain various cuts of a film, each suitable for different customer type. The same digital file could contain a director's cut for movie buffs, a sub-titled version for the hard of hearing, an edit suitable for children or even a version with an intermission built in<sup>75</sup>. As digital copies, whether server based or hard-drive based, would take up less space than reels, individual theaters could build up their own secure libraries of films.

But the biggest change the transition to digital could make for movie theaters may have little to do with movie studios. In 2008, digitally equipped movie theaters could start screening events, ranging from sports fixtures to concerts. Historically major sports events and concerts took audiences away from the theater<sup>76</sup>.

"&= Currency conversions correct on 10 December 2007 at: www.xe.com

Live relays could allow customers to flow back to the movie theater<sup>77</sup>. Digital movie theaters could become supplementary venues for events ranging from the Olympics to the opera<sup>78</sup>. Digital movie theaters may offer an experience as good as, or even better than actually being there. Hence, punters may be prepared to pay a premium to enjoy the Super Bowl in their home town, or Wimbledon without the rain.

The offer of different content may also require a redesign of a movie theater's ancillary facilities, such as catering. Opera fans may not care for hot dogs, but may be prepared to pay a premium for highend cuisine. Merchandising, from clothing to a DVD copy of the event just watched, may become a lucrative source of additional revenues.

With over seven billion tickets sold each year<sup>79</sup>, demand for the movies remains buoyant. But a move to digital may allow theaters to enjoy greater success by becoming more than just a venue to screen movies.

#### Bottom line

The movie theater's run of strong performance provides the ideal backdrop for change. The move to digital implies considerable capital investment, which is likely best accommodated while revenues are still strong. And digital cinema technology may now be sufficiently robust to be ready for mass market roll out<sup>80</sup>. Yet as of 2007, less than 5 percent of movie theaters around the world were digital<sup>81</sup>.

While planning for digital transition, theater owners should consider the need to invest in new skills. A digital movie theater is, for obvious reasons, more IT-centered than analog, and as migration accelerates, there may well be a scramble amongst competing firms to hire suitably skilled staff, including those with a good understanding of digital security. Companies should therefore make understanding the staffing requirements associated with digital a priority, and should start recruiting as soon as is practical.

Movie-theater owners may well need to work very closely together in order to start addressing new markets. Individual theaters, and even large chains, may lack the scale required to persuade sporting or music rights owners that big screen opportunity is substantial. But speaking with one voice, the world's 100,000 movie theaters<sup>82</sup> may well be able make a persuasive case.

...by the end of 2007, for the price of two movie tickets, a film buff could buy two movies on DVD – or the DVD player to play them on.

# Time for music to get tangible again

Over the past 20 years the price of concert tickets has climbed steadily<sup>83</sup>. During the same period, however, the price of recorded music has fallen.

When the compact disc was first launched 26 years ago, it was initially priced at \$30 in the United States<sup>84</sup>. In 2008, in the same market, newly released CDs on e-commerce sites will often be sold for under \$15. Digital downloads of albums are likely to cost even less, priced just under \$12<sup>85</sup>. Yet in 2008, dozens of artists and groups are likely to charge over \$100 for their best seats. Several acts may gross over \$100 million for their tours, following precedents set by a handful of artists and groups in 2006 and 2007<sup>86</sup>.

Historically concert tours were designed to promote sales of albums. Now a single concert ticket can cost as much as, if not much more than, the act's entire CD back catalog.

Another trend, perhaps a corollary, to the declining price of the compact disc and the steadily dwindling revenues of the global recorded music business, has been the rise of the MP3 and the MP3 player.

The MP3 player has become particularly successful in recent years, selling well over 100 million units so far this decade<sup>87</sup>. However, its appeal may be greater than the average consumer's interest in digital music files. So while music fans have been happy to pay several hundred dollars for an MP3 player and a similar amount to see live music, the same fans have tended to spend relatively little – an average of some \$20 – on purchasing digital downloads<sup>88</sup>. Indeed so far sales of digital music do not appear to be making up for the decline in traditional music sales<sup>89</sup>. This is in spite of the fact that the price of a new release album sold in the form of a digital download is generally lower than for the equivalent compact disc.

The reluctance to spend money on digital downloads may be because it is hard for consumers to value intangible products. Furthermore, customers have become used to the concept of free digital content from their experience of the Internet, which offers an array of free media, from news to music clips. The sole evidence of purchasing an MP3 may be just a solitary line of data on an MP3 player describing a song's vital statistics. In 2008 it is likely to remain as hard as ever to gift wrap an MP3 track.

It may be far easier for customers to value a song, and to pay more money for it, if it were physically 'wrapped', with the bigger the packaging, the greater the perceived value. Readers over the age of 30 will likely still remember the fragile but visually appealing music album. The benefit of cover art was, and still could be, that fans might be swayed to purchase a single or an album by the way it looks, as much as by how it sounds. In some cases the cover art could be more memorable, and some might argue, of more value to the customer, than the music contained inside. 2008 could be the year, however, in which music becomes tangible again. One trend that could allow this is the steadily falling price of digital memory, which could enable the commoditization of the MP3 player. The industry could evolve from offering digital downloads for transfer to a device, to selling pre-recorded MP3 players, containing a single album or even an artist's entire back catalog. Having a single MP3 player dedicated to an album or an artist would enable collectors to engage a human trait – to collect and display their purchases.

The falling price of digital memory, in its various formats, such as SD and Compact Flash, could also be used to sell pre-recorded music. The more substantial the packaging used to house the memory card, the more customers may be prepared to pay for the music.

In 2007, one band offered a digital download of an album for any price – ranging from free upward. In the first month, three of every five downloaders opted to pay nothing<sup>90</sup>. While the band left it up to fans to determine what to pay for the intangible download, it felt able to charge over \$80 for the physical version of the album, available as a boxed set comprising vinyl records, CDs, lyric booklets and a hard-cover case<sup>91</sup>.

When the compact disc was first launched 26 years ago, it was initially priced at \$30 in the United States. In 2008, in the same market, newly released CDs on e-commerce sites will often be sold for under \$15.

#### **Bottom line**

Putting a value on something abstract has proven difficult in many markets. Take away the physical elements of books, videos and music, and all too often, what is left is perceived to be less valuable than the original. Downloaded versions of books<sup>92</sup>, video<sup>93</sup> and music<sup>94</sup> often cost less than their traditional equivalents.

For the music industry, one solution to this problem may lie with packaging. The industry should look at various ways of making music more 'physical', while still providing the flexibility of digital downloads.

Another option would be to bundle a physical copy with the digital download. The digital version could be uploaded immediately onto an MP3 player, saving the trouble of copying it. The physical version, destined for the display cabinet, would most likely be a compact disc. But it could possibly be a memory card, which could be used in a range of players, from a mobile phone to a digital radio, or, for sales of entire back catalogs, a dedicated MP3 player, sold in a commemorative box<sup>95</sup>.

In some cases, the physical format could be vinyl. While this may not appeal to younger music fans, it may nurture nostalgia among older, wealthier music fans – the same group that would consider paying over \$100 per ticket to see their favorite childhood singer or group perform at a comeback tour. One band has bundled a book along with one recent commemorative release<sup>96</sup>. Another included a cassette tape<sup>97</sup>. If memory-card releases grow in popularity, packaging should be of the same dimensions as a CD or DVD to ensure that the product remains tangible.

Physical representations do not necessarily have to be in the form of recorded music. Licensing lyrics to adorn a pair of jeans, for example, is just one of many ways that the value of music can be realized in a physical format<sup>98</sup>.

Overall, the industry should ensure it manages the balance between exploiting emerging music formats and reinvigorating existing ones. For example the capability to purchase music on the move has been facilitated by the launch of high-speed mobile networks, but demand so far has been relatively weak, except in a few markets<sup>99</sup>. While technological advance should always be monitored, any new channels to market should factor in the conservatism of some customers, as well as the age-old desire of people to display their possessions, and most of all the highly visual nature of music.

## Stop the presses! Online is moving (slowly) to the front page

Traditional media outlets have been loath to admit that they have based a news story on material that originated online. Blogs (written by authentic amateurs, not renamed columnists), podcasts, wikis – any user-generated content at all – have simply not been considered legitimate, credible sources of information.

But during 2008, it may become increasingly commonplace for traditional media not only to acknowledge the existence of the online world, but also to concede, albeit only occasionally, that those stories have been 'broken' by citizen journalists.

During the year, traditional media companies are likely to move towards a more active and dynamic online presence, as they begin to phase out the historical, now seemingly arbitrary barriers between analog and digital versions<sup>100</sup>.

As a result, it seems likely that traditional media companies will reach ever further into the online world and start sourcing more content from the Web, using the online world as a pool of potential talent, and opening up their own brands to more user-generated input, feedback, or even editing and creation.

The first evidence of this shift emerged when traditional media companies started hiring content creators and news staff who were programmers first and journalists second<sup>101</sup>. As this trend continues, new online features like crime mashups, interactive maps and searchable databases are expected to become important differentiating features for websites. Traditional reporters are unlikely to have the skill sets to create and maintain this kind of content.

As existing media companies lose their disdain – and fear – of the online world, they are likely to start to see the appeal of using the Web as a 'farm team' of up-and-coming talent.

The traditional path of creating a columnist is a major investment that may not always pay off. Hiring journalism school graduates, training them for years, having them cover a beat, and then giving them a column is not a guaranteed route to attracting a healthy readership. On the other hand, there is a growing number of bloggers and podcasters who have already attracted a loyal audience of hundreds of thousands of people, with whom they have an ongoing comment-based dialog. A columnist with a devoted following would be an asset to most traditional media outlets, and hiring someone from the Web is likely to be much less expensive than poaching successful staff from a competitor.

Large media companies have already hired writers hitherto best known for their blogs as columnists<sup>102</sup>. In 2008 and beyond, more pure-play bloggers are likely to graduate to traditional media companies.

A more wide-reaching transition may be more difficult: citizen journalism, a semi-moderated wiki process, via which amateur contributors submit stories that are edited by professional staff, is unlikely to gain much favor among professionals. While citizen journalism will likely continue to grow in 2008, the financial viability and size of audience will probably fail to achieve earlier predictions of success. Some existing media companies believe that the corollary to publishing 'all the news that's fit to print' is that if they don't publish it, it's not news. At one time this attitude was a necessary defense against shoddy journalism, but younger readers may have a more democratic or comprehensive view of what constitutes news<sup>103</sup>.

The largest and arguably most successful wiki newspaper is South Korea's OhmyNews. It is a hybrid operation, with around 65 full-time journalists and 40,000 citizen contributors. It has recently introduced an online course for wannabe citizen journalists. OhmyNews was widely credited with having influenced the 2002 South Korean presidential election and has both Korean and English editions<sup>104</sup>.

Media institutions often have hundreds of years of experience, enormous credibility and broad international presence. As such, the emergence of a growing band of amateurs and enthusiasts is unlikely to cause their status to crumble, in 2008 or perhaps ever. But 2008 may well see amateurs and semi-professionals add eyes and ears to the traditional media to help deliver an enriched, global perspective.

#### **Bottom line**

Traditional media companies are fighting market-share erosion and pressure on advertisers' spending. By looking at the online world as a source of content and talent, they may be able to increase their relevance, especially for younger consumers and readers. They may also be able to reduce their content production and acquisition costs. But is cost-reduction the only driver? Quality and consistency of content are the most important competitive levers any media company has, and opening up the gates to the masses threatens that advantage. On the other hand, as Wikipedia has shown, user-generated and -edited content has the capability of significantly competing against established brands with reputations for quality.

Media companies will need to be flexible. Although the online and programming communities are potentially fertile sources of talent and skills, companies may have to raise their pay levels significantly to attract the right kind of talent. Computer programmers traditionally get paid more than equally experienced journalists. Someone happy to write blogs while sitting at home in a bathrobe may not be comfortable in the corporate environment of a traditional news organization.

There are also substantial challenges to permitting user interaction, editing or even comment on published news. Unedited content may result in a lawsuit for libel. In 2007, one prominent citizen journalism site was sued, not for authoring an allegedly libelous comment, but merely for failing to remove it<sup>105</sup>.

Media companies are still likely to have to strike a balance between being sufficiently open and closed with their readers. They are not likely to want the aphorism "publish and be damned" to take on an altogether new connotation and dimension in 2008.

## Offshoring gets bigger and more creative in the media sector

Offshoring, the use of labor in countries where it costs less, is most commonly associated with the financial services and technology sectors. Historically, the media industry appears to have only dabbled in offshoring, with the finance and IT functions typically the first to be moved overseas.

In 2007, one of the first media offshoring contracts was agreed, worth in excess of \$1 billion. It covered 'end-to-end' full services that included IT, operations, finance and accounting, HR and research<sup>106</sup>. Growing faith in offshoring reflects both consistent quality of supply as well as an increasing ability for western companies and offshored teams to work together. As a result, 2008 may see further significant deals of this scale.

The movie industry has also gone offshore, by using lower cost, lower tax countries to shoot their films<sup>107</sup>. For Hollywood studios, filming in Canada can reduce total production costs by 25 percent<sup>108</sup>. However the principal creative tasks, from script writing to set design, are rarely undertaken offshore.

Studios also use post-production specialists in emerging markets to undertake a range of functions, from editing to special effects<sup>109</sup>. Animated films and television series have also used offshore teams around the world. Offshoring can reduce wage costs by up to two-thirds with little impact on quality<sup>110</sup>. But again, offshored teams tend largely to work under instruction from staff onshore who retain control of the creative process.

Newspapers and magazines have also used offshoring selectively, focusing on more administrative tasks, such as finance and IT. Use of offshore labor for creative tasks has been limited, for example, to the production of advertisements<sup>111</sup>. Attempts to offshore editorial staff have tended to face major challenges, particularly when overseas journalists have to make judgment calls on what is newsworthy, on the other side of the world<sup>112</sup>.

However, 2008 could see growth in the use of offshored staff to undertake creative tasks, as well as functional roles. While cost may remain the key motivation for offshoring, there may be the start of a fundamental change in how offshoring is perceived by media companies. It may increasingly be seen as a means of adding value, not just cutting cost.

The movie industry may increasingly look abroad for the creation as well as the production of films<sup>113</sup>. One incentive for this has been the growing success of non-Hollywood movies, which major studios might look to tap into. In 2005 there were just four non-US films on Variety's top 100 grossers chart. In 2006, there were 10. A movie conceived and made abroad may gross less than a Hollywood blockbuster, but it may also cost far less. "Kung Fu Hustle", a 2004 production, grossed \$101 million worldwide, but cost just \$10 million to make<sup>114</sup>.

The use of offshored teams to undertake more creative tasks may also be catalyzed by the growth in offshoring specialists setting up marketing and production locations onshore. Prime Focus, a postproduction company headquartered in India, purchased VTR, a London-based digital post-production house. Prime Focus's objective in acquiring VTR was to be able to pitch for higher-end jobs by buying in expertise, therefore differentiating on quality and creativity, not just price<sup>115</sup>.

Confidence in offshoring may also be boosted by a growth in specialist firms, focused on different parts of the value chain. As of the beginning of 2008, there were video games specialists in Romania, animation specialists in South Korea and advertising production experts in India<sup>116</sup>.

#### **Bottom line**

The media sector should regard offshoring as a strategic imperative that would best be evaluated proactively. Offshoring has the potential to offer many benefits, but these can only be realized with good execution.

Companies need to consider how offshoring may make management decisions more complex. For example, some processes may need to be redesigned and onshore staff retrained to be able to make full use of the advantages of offshoring. The strategic nature of offshoring often requires board-level sponsorship as well as a thorough, detailed explanation to every member of staff on why a company is offshoring. In addition, the largest offshoring projects may require external project management.

Offshoring should be considered as more than just access to lower cost labor. It should also be recognized as a means of access to new talent, offering a gateway to new markets, and allowing work to be distributed over several time zones.

However, offshoring should not be considered a panacea. It is one of the many options to lower costs and improve quality. Onshore approaches to reducing costs and raising quality standards should be evaluated in parallel with offshoring. And since the media industry trails other sectors in its use of offshoring, it can draw upon a wealth of experience and accumulated best practice.

If economic conditions in 2008 decline, many media companies may rush into offshoring as a means of cutting costs. The more forward-thinking media companies should already have identified which processes to offshore, which suppliers to use and where to base them by the time the crowds arrive.

## Converging technology and media: don't forget the business plan!

The media sector has particularly benefited from the transformational potential of technology in recent years.

Technology, by delivering digitization, has enabled a string of new media products that have had mass-market appeal, such as the MP3 download, the ringtone and the blog. It has also enabled the creation of whole new categories, such as online advertising, the MMORPG and social networks. Technology has also enabled copious amounts of reinvention. The accelerometer, which allows a user's movement to be tracked, has been incorporated into two manufacturers' video games controllers. Nanotechnology has enabled the miniature hard disks that make the portable media player possible, earning its pioneers a Nobel Prize in the process<sup>117</sup>.

In 2008 the convergence of media and technology is likely to spawn a wide range of new products, services and even companies. In some cases convergence may be based on mergers and acquisitions between companies with complementary media properties and technology. Many of these initiatives should in time prove to be commercially successful, but some could fail for reasons that could have been avoided.

One common cause of failure may be that companies put too much emphasis on reaching the limits of what is technically possible, instead of evaluating commercial realities. For example, there are many ways of delivering a television signal, but not all of them may be economically viable. Delivering broadcast television via a fixedline telecommunications network is technically feasible, but some analysts have questioned whether this can provide a return on investment in all markets<sup>118</sup>. Delivering broadcast television to a mobile telephone, while technically possible, may not make financial sense for all players<sup>119</sup>.

There could also be legal obstacles. For example, a company may develop a brand new service only to discover that it faces some legal challenges in accessing its target audience<sup>120</sup>. Requiring customers to be within a specific age group to use a service may be illegal in some markets on the grounds of age discrimination<sup>121</sup>. Using peer-to-peer technology as a means of distributing content to customers may be problematic if host networks – their employers or their university – have banned this distribution method<sup>122</sup>.

The convergence of technology and media could cause some products and services to fall in value. A music album in digital download format typically costs less than its physical equivalent. A newspaper's Web version is increasingly offered free, funded by advertising, while the paper version is paid for<sup>123</sup>.

Some companies, while enjoying great success in building a user base, may find it far harder to monetize this base. Social networks, some of which have attracted tens of millions of customers, may find it challenging to convince users to accept advertising at a later stage<sup>124</sup>.

#### **Bottom line**

The convergence of media and technology can be very powerful. But for the combination of media and technology to be worth more than the sum of its parts, a number of factors have to be aligned. The technology needs to be robust and easy to use, and the service has to comply with laws and regulations in every market where it is offered. Where digitization of analog content has occurred, that content should be more valuable as a result, and there needs to be a realistic plan for generating revenues from end-users. A lack of focus in any one of these areas could prevent the new product or service from attaining its full potential.

Any company using convergence to diversify into another sector, whether it is a technology company entering the media sector, or a telecommunications company looking to generate revenues from media, expertise in the new field is vital. One of the best examples of convergence, iMode in Japan, was based on deep collaboration between telecommunications, technology and media companies.

Diversification via convergence should not distract a company from its core business. A television company with a solid business in broadcast and production, but which is considering alternative forms of distribution, such as content on demand, should execute with rigorous attention to detail. It should ensure that management's focus on diversification, the sole aim of which may be to increase sales by say just 10 percent, does not jeopardize the mainstream broadcast and production business which generates the majority of sales.

Companies should also be careful not be to be misled by numbers. A large user base is great if it is actively contributing to revenues. Otherwise, the cost of maintaining such a base may rapidly become a liability. Furthermore, companies should be diligent in comparing like with like. They should ensure that an advertising-funded unique user is not necessarily considered equivalent to a magazine's subscriber. Deeper analysis may reveal a wholly different picture.

In 2008 the convergence of media and technology is highly likely to spawn a wide range of new products, services and even companies. In some cases convergence may be based on mergers and acquisitions between companies with complementary media properties and technology.

### Notes

- 1 Web banner, Wikipedia: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Web\_banner
- 2 ZenithOptimedia data referenced in: Beijing Olympics will put TV advertising in front, forecasters say, The Times, 1 October 2007.
- 3 Google hits \$219 billion in success search, The Guardian, 1 November 2007.
- 4 Rise in online advertising at US newspapers, Financial Times, 27 May 2007.
- 5 Microsoft acquired Aquantive for \$6.1 billion; Google acquired DoubleClick for \$3.1 billion; WPP paid \$649 million for 24/7 Real Media; Publicis Group SA paid \$1.3 billion for Digitas Inc.; Yahoo agreed to purchase online advertising broker BlueLithium for \$300 million; America Online purchased Quigo, Tacodo and Yedda. Sources: Microsoft ready for a strategic upgrade, Financial Times, 21 May 2007; Will history repeat itself for the dotcoms? Sunday Telegraph, 18 November 2007; Digital Spending Spree, Wall Street Journal Europe, 6 September 2007; Web ads find unwanted attention, Telephony, 19 November 2007.
- 6 ZenithOptimedia forecasts the rate of spending on Internet advertisements to grow six times faster than traditional media between 2006 and 2009, referenced in: Online advertising: The message is being spread, Financial Times, 18 April 2007.
- 7 Online advertising, Financial Times, 26 July 2006.
- 8 What MySpace-Facebook Rivalry? Talk of a brewing showdown between the two social networks masks fundamental distinctions between the sites' leadership, culture, and ability to make a buck, Business Week, 22 October 2007; Will history repeat itself for the dotcoms? Sunday Telegraph, 18 November 2007.
- 9 Will history repeat itself for the dotcoms? Sunday Telegraph, 18 November 2007.
- 10 The shape of things to come, The Business, 17 November 2007; There's a new game in town for television advertisers, Financial Times, 17 May 2005.
- 11 Survey of 2,200 US consumers undertaken in 2007, commissioned by Deloitte Development LLC.
- 12 Ask.com offers a version of its site, called AskEraser, that does not retain any information on customers, EU privacy verdict set for new year, The Register, 11 October 2007.
- 13 AOL to let users block targeted Web ads, The Hollywood Reporter, 1 November 2007.
- 14 Maurice Levy, CEO of Publicis, warned that too many media companies were relying on advertising for their business model; Barry Diller, IAC/InteractiveCorp chairman commented on the \$15 billion valuation of Facebook, referenced in: Publicis chief predicts online ad bubble will burst, 12 November 2007; Andrew Harrison, chief executive of RadioCentre, a trade body in the United Kingdom, suggested that LastFM would struggle to justify its price, referenced in: Will history repeat itself for the dotcoms? Sunday Telegraph, 18 November 2007.
- 15 PQ Media, referenced in: In the picture, The Economist, 1 November 2007.
- 16 See: http://www.internetworldstats.com/stats.htm
- 17 Global Broadband Household Subscription Forecast, 2007-2011, Strategy Analytics, 30 July 2007.
- 18 The Impact of Mobility, New Media Age, 2003. See: http://smlxtralarge.com/docs/pdfs/the\_impact\_of\_mobility.pdf
- 19 Ibid
- 20 World Press Trends: Global newspaper circulation, advertising on the upswing, World Association of Newspapers, 4 June 2007.
- 21 Amazon pushes Kindle book reader, but will anyone buy it? Beta News, 19 November 2007.
- 22 Print books hold more than just the words, Star Gazette, 23 November 2007.
- 23 Amazon Kindle, CNET Reviews, 19 November 2007.
- 24 Amazon's Kindle e-Book: hot or not? The Inquirer, 19 November 2007.
- 25 The latest chapter of the e-Book, BBC News, 27 March 2006.
- 26 Shouldn't Technical e-Books Cost More than Their Printed Counterparts? Planet e-Book. See: http://www.planetebook.com/mainpage.asp?webpageid=139
- 27 It is estimated that 15% of published e-Books are medical/healthcare texts. See Medical Publishing in the Future, Blackwell Publishing, 25 April 2007.
- Walking to the shops 'damages planet more than going by car', The Times, 4 August 2007.
  Ibid.
- 30 Based on research for homes for Northern Ireland, New gadgets 'wasting more energy', BBC News, 4 July 2007.
- 31 Energy hogs in your living room, CNET News, 22 November 2005.

- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Panasonic readies world's largest plasma television factory, vnunet.com, 11 January 2007: http://www.vnunet.com/vnunet/news/2172314/panasonic-readies-world-largest
- 34 Do flat-screen televisions eat more energy? BBC News, 7 December 2006.
- 35 http://www.lowcarbonlife.net/default.asp?page=34
- 36 http://www.hardcoreware.net/reviews/review-356-2.htm
- 37 http://www.lowcarbonlife.net/default.asp?page=34
- 38 The United Kingdom's consumption of energy by devices in standby mode has been estimated as being the equivalent of two power stations. See: TV 'sleep' button stands accused, BBC News, 22 January 2006.
- 39 BSkyB is to help customers reduce their household energy bills with the introduction of a feature that automatically switches inactive Sky set-top boxes into standby mode overnight. Since the launch of Sky digital, BSkyB claims the energy consumption of new standard boxes has been reduced by 50 percent.
- 40 Sanyo to unveil 'green' television, Business Line: http://www.thehindubusinessline.com/2007/02/14/stories/2007021403490500.htm
- 41 See: http://www.press.ce.philips.com/apps/c\_dir/e3379701.nsf/alle/F542FE369E7CDCEEC12 571C40035DAA0?OpenDocument
- 42 Sony's lean, green organic screen, The Times, 12 April 2007.
- 43 Sony to sell next-generation TV screens, CBS News, 12 April 2007.
- 44 Has the death of mainstream TV been exaggerated? The Guardian, 26 November 2007.
- 45 For example, see: Vint Cerf, aka the godfather of the net, predicts the end of TV as we know it, The Guardian, 27 August 2007.
- 46 Most watch short video clips online, The Daily Reel. See: http://www.thedailyreel.com/news-opinion/news/most-watch-short-video-clips-online
- 47 The Joost bandwidth problem, Daily IPTV, August 2007
- 48 Slow downloads could delay advance of video on demand, The Times, 22 January 2007.
- 49 The past and future of online video, BBC News, 30 October 2007.
- 50 Reviewing the collision of traditional TV and IPTV services: what does the future hold? Web TV Wire, 18 November 2007.
- 51 US viewers watched an average of three hours of online video in July, ComScore, 12 September 2007.
- 52 State health department announces first statewide TV turnoff week, New York State Department of Health, 28 March 2007.
- 53 Couch potatoes, The Economist, 19 July 2007.
- 54 In France, as broadband penetration rose, so did file sharing. Pirates face crackdown over movie downloads, The Guardian, 24 November 2007.
- 55 Millions turn to net for pirate TV, BBC News, 27 November 2006: http://news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/1/hi/technology/6151118.stm
- 56 France unveils anti-piracy plan, BBC News, 23 November 2007.
- 57 Minister of sound, Music Week, 24 November 2007; Illegal 'hub' a problem for entertainment, IT sector, Business Standard, 22 November 2007.
- 58 MPAA accuses TorrentSpy of concealing evidence, CNet, 11 June 2007.
- 59 Minister of sound, Music Week, 24 November 2007.
- 60 Technology 'can beat piracy', BBC News, 13 October 2006: http://news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/1/hi/entertainment/6044980.stm
- 61 Pricing information obtained from e-commerce websites, including www.amazon.com
- 62 British and Dutch police raids shut down the world's largest pre-release pirate music site, IFPI, 23 October 2007.
- 63 Millions turn to net for pirate TV, BBC News, 27 November 2006: http://news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/1/hi/technology/6151118.stm
- 64 Mob pirates: menace or myth, Wired, 19 August 2005.
- 65 RIAA piracy makes it to the Ivy League, TechWeb, 20 November 2007.
- 66 Kindergarten Kopyright, Forbes, 26 November 2007
- 67 Technology boosts movie industry box office sales, PC Pro, 7 March 2007.

- 68 Ibid
- 69 Record film year at US box office, BBC News, 31 December 2002
- 70 Budget DVD player, Sunday Times, 6 May 2007
- 71 Winners take all in Rockonomics, BBC News, 20 April 2006.
- 72 Annual review of football finance, Deloitte & Touche LLP (United Kingdom), June 2007.
- 73 UK pioneers digital film network, BBC News, 26 February 2005
- 74 Reinventing the movies, Asia Image, January 2001
- 75 See: Digital Cinema, http://www.artsalliancemedia.com/cinema/.
- 76 Hot Fuzz, Harry and Bean boost the British film industry, UK Film Council, 13 November 2007.
- 77 For example, see: http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/showbiz/article-23397805details/Coming+to+a+screen+near+you...Genesis+in+concert/article.do
- 78 New York's Metropolitan Opera Theater's second series of live high-definition transmission comprises eight performances for its 2007-2008 season. For more information, see: http://www.metoperafamily.org/metopera/broadcast/hd\_events.aspx
- 79 MPA Snapshot Report 2006 international theatrical market, Motion Picture Association, April 2007.
- 80 For example see: \$8 billion Digital Cinema Market Beckons: Half of All Screens Will Be Digital by 2013, Dodona Research, 2007; The Curtain Rises on Sony's New SXRD 4k Digital Cinema Projector, PR Newswire, 24 October 2006; Digital Cinema Server Ushers in Next Generation of Movie Technology Worldwide, Microsoft, August 2007; Carmike Cinemas going digital, Dalton Daily Citizen, 16 December 2006.
- 81 \$8 billion Digital Cinema Market Beckons: Half of All Screens Will Be Digital by 2013, Dodona Research, 2007.
- 82 In Camera, Kodak, July 2007.
- 83 Winners take all in Rockonomics, BBC News, 20 April 2006.
- 84 History of the compact disc, SiliconUser, 3 July 2007.
- 85 Recorded music and music publishing, Enders Analysis, March 2007.
- 86 The Rolling Stones grossed \$437 million; U2 grossed \$333 million; Madonna grossed \$194 million; The Police grossed \$171 million; Rolling Stones stage richest ever tour, New Musical Express, 25 November 2006; Madonna sets female tour record, USA Today, 20 September 2006; The Police claim highest grossing tour, Music-news.com, 16 November 2007.
- 87 One brand of MP3 player alone, Apple's iPod range, sold its 100-millionth unit in 2007: iPod sales top 100 million, NME, 10 April 2007.
- 88 Recorded music and music publishing, Enders Analysis, March 2007.
- 89 Ibid
- 90 For Radiohead fans, does "free" + "download" = "freeload"? Comscore, 5 November 2007.
- 91 For more information, see: http://www.inrainbows.com/Store/index3.htm
- 92 The Future of Reading, Newsweek, 26 November 2007
- 93 Target wants cheaper DVDs, "level playing field" with online movie sellers, Ars Technica, 9 October 2006.
- 94 Recorded music and music publishing, Enders Analysis, March 2007.
- 95 One band, Hadouken, recently released an album on memory stick only. For more information, see: http://hadouken.trinitystreetdirect.com/store/page4.asp? sup type=1&t=1 &sub\_type=3&prod\_id=30&col=30
- 96 For more information, see: http://joshuatree.u2.com/index.php?module=home and http://www.u2.com/highlights/?hid=408
- 97 One artist, Jamie T, included a cassette tape of a live concert as part of a bundled sale. For more information on the artist, see: http://www.jamie-t.com/.
- 98 See: Lyric jeans and EMI Music Publishing join forces for luxury apparel line, EMI, 10 August 2006.
- 99 The Mobile Audio Media Study, Artbitron/Telephia, Quarter 1 2007.
- 100 Now, everyone is entitled to our opinions, New York Times, 19 September 2007: http://www.nytimes.com/marketing/ts/.
- 101 Wall Street Journal to Make Web Site Free, Murdoch says, cyberjournalist.net, 14 November 2007: http://www.cyberjournalist.net/wall-st-journal-to-make-web-site-free-murdoch-says/.

- 102 Web Focus Leads Newspapers to Hire Programmers for Editorial Staff, PBS Mediashift, 7 March 2007: http://www.pbs.org/mediashift/2007/03/digging\_deeperthe\_geek\_in\_ the\_1.html Time.com Hires Former Wonkette Blogger, Cyberjournalist.net, 26 July 2006: http://www.cyberjournalist.net/news/003643.php Andrew Sullivan to blog for Time.com, Cyberjournalist.net, 22 November 2005: http://www.cyberjournalist.net/news/003040.php
- 103 Young America's News Source: Jon Stewart, CNN.com, 2 March 2004: http://www.cnn.com/2004/SHOWBIZ/TV/03/02/apontv.stewarts.stature.ap/.
- 104 OhmyNews' Oh My Biz Problem, BusinessWeek, 1 November 2006: http://www.business week.com/globalbiz/content/nov2006/gb20061101\_539412.htm
- 105 Libel Lawsuit Filed Against iBrattleboro Founders Grotke & LePage, Citizen Media Law Project, 28 November 2007: http://www.citmedialaw.org/blog/2007/libel-lawsuitfiled-against-ibrattleboro-founders-grotke-lepage
- 106 Nielsen and Tata Consultancy Services reach agreement in principle for IT and operations support services worldwide, PR News Wire, 18 October 2007.
- 107 For example, see: Film Tax Relief, Scottish Screen: http://www.scottishscreen.com/ content/sub\_page.php?sub\_id=95&page\_id=19 r Film New Zealand: http://www.filmnz.com/production-guide/taxation.html
- 108 The Hollowing out of Hollywood, Yale Global, 30 April 2004.
- 109 Welcome to the future, where India adds a film's final touch, The Times, 14 May 2007.
- 110 'The Simpsons' made in Korea, China Daily, 5 March 2005
- 111 For more information, see: http://www.expresskcs.com/ which provides ad make up services for over 40 publications in North America and Europe.
- 112 Outsourcing hits a new class of workers: Journalists, International Herald Tribune, 20 November 2006.
- 113 Sony commits studio to 'foreign', Variety, 7 September 2007.
- 114 Ibid
- 115 India shoots at UK Entertainment Inc, The Economic Times, 31 March 2007
- 116 Romanians lighten up Harry Potter game, Reuters, 31 July 2007; 'The Simpsons' made in Korea, China Daily, 5 March 2005.
- 117 Nanotechnology gives sensitive read-out heads for compact hard disks, Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, 9 October 2007.
- 118 Forrester report warns western Europe telcos of IPTV-generated losses, Broadcast Engineering, 26 June 2006; Interview with Mike Harris, Gartner, Convergence Conversations, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, November 2006.
- 119 Europeans are not interested in mobile TV, Softpedia, 26 September 2007.
- 120 Interview with David Kerr, Bird & Bird, Digital Dilemmas, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, November 2007.
- 121 Free UK mobile service runs straight into connectivity problems, Wireless Federation, 26 September 2007.
- 122 For example see policy for Trinity College Cambridge, which specifically prohibits "peer-to-peer TV on demand applications" http://www.trin.cam.ac.uk/index.php?pageid=509 or Leeds University, which has prohibited a long list of peer-to-peer applications: http://campus.leeds.ac.uk/isms/policies/related/residence\_network\_conditions.html UK universities' approach is similar to that in the United States, e.g. The University of Chicago, which has a list of banned peer-to-peer applications http://security.uchicago.edu/guidelines/peer-to-peer/.
- 123 Now, everyone is entitled to our opinions, New York Times, 19 September 2007: http://www.nytimes.com/marketing/ts/; Wall Street Journal to make website free, Murdoch says, cyberjournalist.net, 14 November 2007: http://www.cyberjournalist.net/ wall-st-journal-to-make-web-site-free-murdoch-says/.
- 124 See: Social networks: popular, yes, but how to monetize them, ceoworld.biz, 22 November 2007; Of social nets and business models, GigaOm, 19 June 2006; Ziki, this week's social network; TechCrunch, 3 April 2006; The MySpace generation, BusinessWeek, 12 December 2005; No business in social networking, eWeek, 4 May 2004.

## Glossary of technical terms

CD	Compact Disc
CRT	Cathode Ray Tube
DVD	Digital Versatile Disc
DVR	Digital Video Recorder
HD	High Definition
IPTV	Internet Protocol Television
ISP	Internet Service Provider
MMORPG	Massive Multiplayer Online Role-play Games
OEL	Organic Electro Luminescence
SD	Secure Digital
TMT	Technology, Media & Telecommunications
VoD	Video-on-Demand

## Recent thought leadership

Convergence Conversations

Digital Dilemmas

The elements of value network appliances – Part 1: Strategies for building alliance partnerships

Global Trends in Venture Capital 2007 Survey

Growing their own talent – 2007 Global Survey of CEOs in the Deloitte Technology Fast 500

Treading water – 2007 TMT Global Security Survey

Value, protect, exploit: How managing intellectual property can build and sustain competitive advantage

### Contacts at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (DTT) and its member firms

#### Igal Brightman

Global Managing Partner, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Technology, Media & Telecommunications +972 3 608 55 00 ibrightman@deloitte.co.il

#### Americas

Alberto Lopez Carnabucci Argentina +54 11 4320 2700 alopezcarnabucci@deloitte.com

Elsa Victoria Mena Cardona Colombia +571 546 1815 emenacardona@deloitte.com

**Cesar Chong** Panama +507 303 4100 cechong@deloitte.com

**Hector Gutierriez** Venezuela +58 212 206 8534 hgutierrez@deloitte.com

#### Europe/Middle East/Africa

Georg Kraus Austria +43 1 537 00 4810 gkraus@deloitte.at

Kim Gerner Denmark +45 36 10 32 81 kgerner@deloitte.dk

**Tom Cassin** Ireland +353 1 417 2210 tcassin@deloitte.ie

Saba Sindaha Middle East +971 2 646 0606 ssindaha@deloitte.com

**Danie Crowther** South Africa +27 12 482 0141 daniecrowther@deloitte.co.za

Jolyon Barker United Kingdom +44 20 7007 1818 jrbarker@deloitte.co.uk

#### Asia Pacific

**Damien Tampling** Australia +61 2 9322 5890 dtampling@deloitte.com.au

**Robert Tan** Malaysia +603 7723 6599 rtan@deloitte.com

Clark C. Chen Taiwan +886 2 2545 9988 x3065 clarkcchen@deloitte.com.tw

Marco Antonio Brandao Simurro Brazil +55 11 5186 1232 mbrandao@deloitte.com.br **Carlos Gallegos Echeverria** Costa Rica +506 253 2466 cagallegos@deloitte.com Gustavo Lopez Ameri Peru +51 1 211 8533 glopezameri@deloitte.com

Andre Claes

+32 2 600 6670

Jussi Sairanen

+358 40 752 0082

**Asher Mechlovich** 

+972 3 608 5524

**Piet Hein Meeter** 

+31 20 582 4351

**Eduardo Sanz** 

+34 91 514 5000

United Kingdom

+44 20 7303 0197

paullee@deloitte.co.uk

edsanz@deloitte.es

Spain

Paul Lee

pmeeter@deloitte.nl

Netherlands

jussi.sairanen@deloitte.fi

amechlovich@deloitte.co.il

aclaes@deloitte.com

Belaium

Finland

Israel

John Ruffolo Canada +1 416 601 6684 jruffolo@deloitte.ca

Ernesto Graber Ecuador +593 4 245 2770 ext 1663

egraber@deloitte.com Phillip Asmundson United States Deloitte & Touche USA LLP

+1 203 708 4860 pasmundson@deloitte.com

#### Arturo Platt Chile

+56 2 2703 361 aplatt@deloitte.com

Francisco Silva Mexico +52 55 5080 6310 fsilva@dttmx.com

Robert de Luca Uruguay +598 2 916 0756 ext 123 rdeluca@deloitte.com

Gennady Kamyshnikov Russia & CIS +7 495 787 0600 gkamyshnikov@deloitte.ru

**Dieter Schlereth** Germany +49 211 8772 2638 dschlereth@deloitte.de

Dan Arendt Luxemboura +352 451 452621 darendt@deloitte.lu

Joao Luis Silva Portugal +351 210 427 635 joaolsilva@deloitte.pt

**Baris Onev** Turkey +90 212 366 6073 boney@deloitte.com

#### **Charles Yen** China

+86 10 8520 7000 chyen@deloitte.com.cn John Bell

New Zealand +64 9 303 0853 jobell@deloitte.co.nz

Marasari Kanjanataweewat Thailand +662 676 5700 ext 6067 mkanjanataweewat@deloitte.com

N. Venkatram India +91 22 6667 9125 nvenkatram@deloitte.com **Shariq Barmaky** Singapore +65 6530 5508 shbarmaky@deloitte.com

#### Yoshitaka Asaeda Japan +81 3 6213 3488 yoshitaka.asaeda@tohmatsu.co.jp Hvun Chul Jun South Korea +82 2 6676 1307

hjun@deloitte.com

21

#### Dariusz Nachyla Central Europe +48 22 511 0631 dnachyla@deloittece.com

**Eric Morgain** France +33 1 5561 2798

Halvor Moen

Sweden +46 8 506 711 30

emorgain@deloitte.fr Alberto Donato Italv

Norway +47 2327 9785

tommy.maartensson@deloitte.se

+39 064 780 5595 adonato@deloitte.it

hmoen@deloitte.no **Tommy Maartensson** 

#### For more information, please contact

#### Noel Spiegel

Deloitte & Touche LLP Partner in charge of DTT TMT Marketing +1 212 492 4135 nspiegel@deloitte.com

#### Francois Van Der Merwe

Australia Director of DTT TMT Marketing and EMEA TMT Marketing +612 9322 5406 francoisvandermerwe@deloitte.com.au

#### Amanda Goldstein

United States Director of DTT TMT Marketing +1 212 436 5203 agoldstein@deloitte.com

#### Yvonne Dow

China/Hong Kong Director of Asia Pacific TMT Marketing +852 2852 6611 ydow@deloitte.com

#### Disclaimer

The information contained herein is provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and is intended to provide general information on a particular subject or subjects and is not an exhausive treatment of such subjects(s). Accordingly, the information is not intended to constitute accounting, tax, legal, investment, consulting or other professional advice or services. The information is not intended to be relied upon as the sole basis for any decision which may affect you or your business. Before making any decision or taking any action that might affect your personal finances or business, you should consult a qualified professional adviser.

The information contained herein is provided as is, and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu makes no express or implied representations or warranties regarding the information contained herein. Without limiting the foregoing, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu does not warrant that the information contained herein will be error-free or will meet any particular criteria of performance or quality. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu expressly disclaims all implied warranties, including, without limitation, warranties of merchantability, title, fitness for a particular purpose, noninfringement, compatibility, security, and accuracy.

Prediction of future events is inherently subject to both known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual events to vary materially. Your use of the information contained herein is at your own risk and you assume full responsibility and risk of loss resulting from the use thereof. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will not be liable for any special, direct, indirect, incidental, consequential, or punitive damages or any other damages whatsoever, whether in an action of contract, statute, tort (including, without limitation, negligence), or otherwise, relating to the use of the information contained herein.

If any of the foregoing is not fully enforceable for any reason, the remainder shall nonetheless continue to apply.

#### About Deloitte

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, a Swiss Verein, its member firms, and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is an organization of member firms around the world devoted to excellence in providing professional services and advice, focused on client service through a global strategy executed locally in nearly 140 countries. With access to the deep intellectual capital of approximately 150,000 people worldwide, Deloitte delivers services in four professional areas—audit, tax, consulting, and financial advisory services—and serves more than 80 percent of the world's largest companies, as well as large national enterprises, public institutions, locally important clients, and successful, fast-growing global companies. Services are not provided by the Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Verein, and, for regulatory and other reasons, certain member firms do not provide services in all four professional areas.

As a Swiss Verein (association), neither Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu nor any of its member firms have any liability for each other's acts or omissions. Each of the member firms is a separate and independent legal entity operating under the names "Deloitte", "Deloitte & Touche", "Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu", or other related names.



© Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 2008. All rights reserved.

Designed and produced by The Creative Studio, United Kingdom. 20493B